THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2011-GS-10-05232
Case No.: 2011-GS-19-04844
Appellate Case No.: 2013-000376

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Robert Harvey Payne Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Ginger D. Goforth
LAZENBY LAW FIRM, LLC
PO Box 6099
Spartanburg, SC 29304
(864) 804-5050

Robert M Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
SC Commission on Indigent Defense
Appellate Division
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29201-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in failing to direct a verdict of not guilty on the charge of Indecent Exposure based on nudity as expressive speech protected by the South Carolina and United States Constitutions?

- II. Did the trial court err in failing to direct a verdict of not guilty on the charge of Pointing and Presenting a Firearm where the evidence of record is not sufficient to convict Appellant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert Harvey Payne (“Payne”) was arrested on May 30, 2011. The grand jury for Charleston County indicted him on September 13, 2011 for the charge of Indecent Exposure. (R. p. 1). Payne was arrested again on July 9, 2012. The grand jury indicted him on July 11, 2012 for the charge of Pointing and Presenting a Firearm. (R. p. 6). A direct indictment against Payne was returned on the first day of trial for the charge of Assault and Battery in the First Degree. (R. p. 14, l. 3 – p. 16, l. 7). All of these charges arose from an incident that occurred on May 29, 2011. Payne was tried before The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., and a jury from February 4 through February 8, 2013. He was found not guilty of Assault and Battery in the First Degree and its lesser included offenses. He was convicted on charges of Indecent Exposure and Pointing and Presenting a Firearm, and sentenced to three and five years, respectively. (R. p. 447, l. 4 – p. 475, l. 1). This appeal followed.

FACTS

For two years prior to May 29, 2011, Robert Payne lived on his houseboat in marshland adjacent to Shem Creek in Charleston County, South Carolina. His houseboat was moored in front of his friend Jerry Moore's home. Moore lived in a small coastal development called Bayview Acres in Mount Pleasant, South Carolina. (R. p. 51, ll. 1-12). Moore had allowed Payne to tie the boat, which was leaking, in front of his home while he made repairs. (R. p. 294, ll. 4-13). Graham Stone also lived in Bayview Acres, four houses away from Moore. (R. p. 54, ll. 12-13).

According to Payne, Stone had harassed him for two years. He testified that during the time his boat was parked for repairs, Stone harassed, stalked, and called the police and other agencies on him regularly. Payne testified that his boat was out of sight of Bayview Acres lots, except for his friend Moore's lot. Stone's interference and harassment interrupted Payne's work on his boat and generally caused him trouble. (R. p. 321, l. 15 – p. 322, l. 2).

On May 18, 2011, Payne attempted to move his houseboat, but it became stranded in the middle of the marsh. (R. p. 53, ll. 10-15). Stone testified that he had "tremendous conflict" with Payne over the location of his boat. (R. p. 51, ll. 17-20). In fact, on May 18, the very day Payne attempted to move his boat, Stone called the police yet again to obtain a trespass notice against Payne. (R. p. 95, l. 19 – p. 187, l. 7). The police issued the trespass notice, but it was later withdrawn on the advice of the attorney for the Town of Mount Pleasant. (R. p. 97, ll. 8-12). On May 24, 2011, Stone again called police, claiming that Payne shined a flashlight at his home. The police investigated but made no

arrest. (R. p. 98, ll. 5-13). While Stone never directly asked Payne to move his boat, he contacted all manner of government agencies, lodging complaints about Payne. (R. p. 353, l. 12 – p. 451, l. 7).

According to Harry Sewell, former Mount Pleasant Chief of Police, the neighborhood was “up in arms” after Payne’s boat moved on May 18, 2011. Chief Sewell visited Payne to discuss the issue. He testified that there were legal processes going on, but his goal was to be a “neighborhood solver.” (R. p. 277, ll. 7-23). Chief Sewell and Payne reached an agreement that Payne could repair his boat and float it out on the expected high tide between June 1 and June 4, 2011. (R. p. 277, l. 24 – p. 278, l. 10).

Stone testified that he observed Payne on the afternoon of May 29, 2011 on his boat. According to Stone, Payne was sunbathing, drinking, and "giving us the finger." (R. p. 56, ll. 11-13, p. 57, l. 16 – p. 58, l. 13). Stone took his wife to an evening event. He testified that when he returned, Payne removed his swim trunks and while "proffering his genitals," gave him "the double finger." (R. p. 58, l. 22 – p. 59, l. 12).

Payne acknowledged that he did show his genitals, and urinated off the side of his boat in the direction of Stone’s property, while also giving the “bird,” all as a sign of contempt for the entire situation and Stone’s participation in harassing him. (R. p. 320, ll. 13-24; p. 350, ll. 21-24).

Stone called 911. (R. p. 61, ll. 5-7). He testified that the police responded "instantly." (R. p. 63, ll. 5-6). Stone directed the police 150 yards down his street to the neighborhood marsh access, which then gave the police access to the causeway, where Payne's boat was moored. (R. p. 63, ll. 14-21). According to Stone, Payne exited his

boat while the police were traveling there, and "disappeared into the brush on the island, and I heard this bang, like – it sounded like a gun." (R. p. 64, l. 2 – p. 156, l. 1). He testified that he did not know where the noise came from. (R. p. 65, ll. 20-21). Stone testified that Payne then emerged from the brush on the island, and had what appeared to be "a stick or maybe a baseball bat" in his hand. He testified that Payne pointed the item at him, and he "thought he was just playing, like when he gives me the finger, and then he fired." (R. p. 66, l. 13 – p. 158, l. 1). According to Stone, the two shots occurred within seconds of each other. (R. p. 78, ll. 5-17). Stone testified that he made a second 911 call.

Stone did not at any time during the second call tell police that Payne had fired at him, or even in his direction. (R. p. 71, ll. 11-15). Stone acknowledged that he was outside at the time he believed Payne shot at him. He did not hear any falling shot, he was not struck by any projectile, and there was no property damage to his home or property. (R. p. 80, l. 10 – p. 172, l. 11).

Stone later gave police a signed statement. (R. p. 73, ll. 15-19). In this statement, Stone told police, twice, that Payne pointed the gun "at or above my house and fired it." Stone signed each page of the four page statement. (R. p. 83, ll. 13-25, p. 175, ll. 9-22). At trial, Stone testified that Officer Robert Basile, who took his statement "just wrote down whatever he wanted to write down." (R. p. 84, ll. 5-6). He admitted, however, that Officer Basile did not make up facts and put them into his statement. (R. p. 82, ll. 11-14). He ultimately stated, when asked to acknowledge the truth of the contents of his statement, "I have no objection to it." (R. p. 84, ll. 20-22).

Several months after the incident, in February 2012, Stone testified under oath to obtain a restraining order against Payne. At this hearing, Stone admitted that he could

not tell whether the shot was aimed at or above him. (R. p. 85, ll. 1-8). Stone testified that Payne fired the shot in question from approximately 175 yards away. (R. p. 98, l. 21 – p. 99, l. 22).

Scott Anderson also lives in Bayview Acres, around 200 feet further down the street from Stone. Anderson testified that he was grilling out in his back yard on the evening of May 29, 2011 and could see Payne's boat in the marsh. (R. p. 167, ll. 17-19). Anderson testified that while he and his son were grilling and going in and out of the house, he heard a boom. (R. p. 168, ll. 11-22). He later picked up the scope from a pellet gun, and saw Payne emerge from the woods on the island. (R. p. 169, ll. 3-14). He testified that Payne then fired a shotgun at him. He called 911. (R. p. 169, ll. 15-17; p. 170, ll. 2-3).

Like Stone, Anderson did not during the 911 call ever tell the authorities that Payne had fired the shotgun at him and his son. (R. p. 171, l. 23 – p. 172, l. 2). In his written statement, Anderson stated that he heard the boom around 30 minutes before Payne emerged from the woods on the island with the shotgun. (R. p. 180, ll. 10-25). Officer Robert Basile interviewed Stone on May 29, 2011. He testified concerning his training to take witness statements, and that the statement he prepared was accurate. (R. p. 285, l. 21 – p. 292, l. 8).

Benjamin Wells is an officer with the Mount Pleasant police department. (R. p. 192, l. 10-11). Officer Wells responded to Stone's 911 call concerning Payne's nudity. (R. p. 193, ll. 2-7). Officer Wells used binoculars to find Payne, who was walking in the marsh. He noticed that he had something in his hand, but could not tell what it was. (R. p. 193, ll. 18-22). Officer Wells joined other responding officers, and as they were

making their way into the marsh, he heard a loud bang come from the marsh area. (R. p. 194, ll. 3-7). Within five to ten minutes of responding to the call, the officers took Payne into custody. (R. p. 196, ll. 5-8). Officer Wells testified that from the time he arrived on the scene until the moment of Payne's arrest, he only heard one shot. (R. p. 205, ll. 4-12).

Officer Joseph Zeitner also responded to the May 29, 2011 incident. (R. p. 210, ll. 11-13). Officer Zeitner walked out to the island once Payne was in custody, and recovered a single spent shotgun shell casing. (R. p. 217, l. 19 - p. 218, l. 2). Officer Zeitner also performed measurements to determine the distance between where Payne fired and Stone and Anderson's respective properties. He found that the distance to Stone's property was 537 feet (179 yards) and the distance to Anderson's property was 812 feet (270 yards). (R. p. 225, l. 19 - p. 226, l. 16). Officer Zeitner testified that there was no report of a gunshot prior to his arrival on the scene on May 29, 2011, and that he only heard one shot between his arrival and Payne's arrest. (R. p. 229, l. 6 - p. 230, l. 1).

Lieutenant Donald Quick was the third officer on the scene on May 29, 2011. (R. p. 234, ll. 2-3). Lieutenant Quick heard only one shot after he responded. (R. p. 238, l. 18-22; p. 239, ll. 8-9).

Mark Kelly was offered by the prosecution as a general expert in firearms. (R. p. 119, ll. 12-14). Kelly testified that Payne used a 20 gauge Mossberg shotgun that used three inch number two buck shot. (R. p. 121, ll. 8-10; p. 127, ll. 6-14). Kelly testified that Payne's shotgun had an 18 ¼ inch barrel. Kelly used as a test weapon a 20 gauge Mossberg shotgun with a 28 inch barrel. (R. p. 129, ll.16-24). Kelly testified that the test weapon would fire a longer distance, and with more accuracy. (R. p. 130, ll. 2-17).

Kelly was able to testify concerning the shot pattern of the shotgun at 100 yards. However, he admitted that "the performance of these pellets as they go further distance is something that I honestly don't know the answers to." (R. p. 132, ll. 11-20). Kelly testified that the shotgun was designed as a short-range weapon, and does not have a long-range purpose. (R. p. 132, l. 21 – p. 133, l. 3).

Payne testified that on May 29, 2011 he decided to fire a 20 gauge short barrel shotgun that he found in Moore's truck, in order to make noise and bother Stone. (R. p. 312, ll. 9-25). Payne testified that he wanted to make sure no one saw him actually fire the shotgun, since he thought it might be illegal to do so within the city limits. He fired one shot into the air from inside his boat, through a hatch. About 30 minutes later, he went into the woods on the island, and - hidden from view – fired another shot into the air. He testified that he did this with the goal of annoying Stone. (R. p. 322, l. 22 – p. 324, l. 13; p. 333, l. 24 – p. 334, l. 12). Payne testified that he ejected the spent shell casing at the edge of the woods. (R. p. 325, ll. 2-4). Among other health issues, Payne has trouble with distance vision. He testified that he could not discern people from a distance of 170 yards or more. (R. p. 332, ll. 1-18). He also testified that he did not point the shotgun at Stone or Anderson. (R. p. 335, l. 12 – p. 336, l. 3).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In considering a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence. State v. Mathis, 287 S.C. 589, 340 S.E.2d 538 (1986). While the Court of Appeals must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, it must also reverse the trial court's denial of a directed verdict if it is not supported by either direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence of the

defendant's guilt. State v. Gibson, 390 S.C. 347, 701 S.E.2d 766, 769 (Ct. App. 2010); citing State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006).

ARGUMENT

I. Did the trial court err in failing to direct a verdict of not guilty on the charge of Indecent Exposure based on nudity as expressive speech protected by the South Carolina and United States Constitutions?

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-130(A)(1) provides that it is unlawful for a person to wilfully, maliciously, and indecently expose his person in a public place, on property of others, or to the view of any person on a street or highway. S.C. Const. Art. I, § 2 provides that the General Assembly “shall make no law . . . abridging the freedom of speech.” See also, U.S. Const. Amend. I. Payne’s action was a statement of disdain and/or disrespect that was intended as expressive behavior. Article I, Section II of the South Carolina Constitution provides that no statute can impinge on the freedom of expression or speech. The First Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that the states cannot abridge free speech.

Expressive conduct, or “symbolic speech,” is entitled to First Amendment Protection. United States v. O’Brien, 391 U.S. 367, 376 (1968). In State v. Ramsey, 311 S.C. 555, 559, 430 S.E.2d 511, 514 (1993), the South Carolina Supreme Court recognized that the First Amendment “ensures that persons may speak as they think on matters vital to them, and that noxious doctrines may be refuted and their evil averted by the courageous exercise of the right of free discussion.” Id. at 514. The Court further held that “[c]onduct may be sufficiently imbued with elements of communication so as to fall within the scope of the First Amendment. Id. at 514, citing Texas v. Johnson, 491

U.S. 397 (1989). The Court admonished that “[a]s disagreeable as the symbolic conduct may be, the First Amendment mandates that government may not prohibit the expression of ideas simply because society finds the ideas themselves to be offensive.” Id., citing Johnson, 491 U.S. at 414.

Public nudity, generally, is not proscribed by South Carolina law. See, e.g., Diamonds v. Greenville County, 325 S.C. 154, 480 S.E.2d 718, 719-20 (1997). Symbolic speech is protected by the First Amendment when it is intended to convey a particularized message and it is likely that the message would be understood by those viewing it. Texas v. Johnson, 491 U.S. at 404. Therefore, a display of nudity, done as symbolic speech, is protected from punishment by enforcement of the Indecent Exposure statute.

Payne made clear in his testimony that displayed himself to Stone in the manner that he did in order to convey a message of disdain and contempt for Stone’s harassment and perceived misuse of complaints to government officials to deprive Payne of his right to have his boat in a particular location. The fact that he shot “the bird” in conjunction with the display underscores this fact. In turn, Stone understood that message.

Payne’s action was a statement of disdain and/or disrespect that was intended as expressive behavior, and was understood that way.

Further, the Indecent Exposure statute need not be invalidated as overbroad, as long as it is subject to a limiting construction, and is interpreted to prohibit only indecent exposure that is not intended as protected symbolic speech or a communicative act. In re:

Amir X.S., 371 S.C. 380, 639 S.E.2d 144 (Ct. App. 2006); City of Portland v. Gatewood, 708 P.2d 615 (Or. Ct. App. 1985). The application of the statute to Payne's behavior under the circumstances is unconstitutional, even if the statute as written is not overbroad as a matter of law.

The State and the trial court were in agreement that Payne's behavior was not intended – or received – in any sexual way, nor did it have any kind of sexual or prurient connotation. The trial court appears to have sent the determination of this charge to the jury because Payne could have just been behaving out of “meanness.” The State had the burden of proving that Payne was acting solely out of maliciousness. It did not. The record shows that Payne had been subject to a pattern of harassment and manipulation from the homeowners in Bayview Acres, and in particular by Stone, wherein connections with law enforcement and other public officials had been used to push him out of a place that he believed he had a legal right to live. That is the context in which Payne was acting when he exposed himself to Stone. Trial counsel rightly compared Payne's behavior to that of protestors at the White House – they may or may not know whether the President is at home, but that does not dilute the message of protest that they are making outside of his residence.

Expressive, or symbolic, speech is intended to convey a particularized message. Payne's testimony demonstrated that he intended the message for Stone. Stone, in turn, received and understood it. There was no testimony or evidence in the record that anyone other than Stone received Payne's message. The message was so clear that the trial court

should have decided, as a matter of law, that the activity was constitutionally protected, and therefore did not support a violation of the Indecent Exposure statute.

II. Did the trial court err in failing to direct a verdict of not guilty on the charge of Pointing and Presenting a Firearm where the evidence of record is not sufficient to convict Appellant?

“A basic principle of criminal law is that the State has the burden of proof as to all of the essential elements of the crime.” State v. Attardo, 263 S.C. 546, 550, 211 S.E.2d 868, 870 (1975). S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-410 provides that it is unlawful for a person to present or point at another person a loaded or unloaded firearm.

The jury struggled with the term “present.” (R. p. 500). The term “present” is not defined by statute. The South Carolina Supreme Court has shed light on actions that constitute “presentment.” In State v. Reese, 370 S.C. 31, 633 S.E.2d 898, 900-01 (2006), overruled on other grounds, State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009), the Court held that the defendant “presented” a firearm when he waved it in the victim’s face. In State v. Cabrera-Pena, 361 S.C. 372, 605 S.E.2d 522-526-27 (2004), the Court held that the defendant’s conduct in showing his victim pistol and forcing her to walk toward a truck could constitute the crime of presenting a firearm within the terms of the statute. The implication in both of these cases is that a defendant must “present” a firearm in close enough proximity to a victim such that it constitutes a threat.

In In re: Spencer R., 387 S.C. 517, 692 S.E.2d 569, 573 (Ct. App. 2010), the Court recognized this ambiguity, and sought to more clearly define presentment. It held that the task of defining an otherwise undefined term requires determination of its plain and ordinary meaning as the term arises in other contexts. Id. at 572. Evaluating statutes

from other jurisdictions, determined that “present” in the South Carolina statute means “to show in a threatening manner.” Id. at 572.

The Court further held that the State must prove presentment by adducing evidence that the defendant **intended** to present a firearm at a victim. In Spencer, the Court held that because there was no evidence in the record that established Spencer’s intent to threaten two of the alleged victims, those charges must be dismissed. This was so even though these two alleged victims viewed Spencer in his driveway with the wielding the weapon. With respect to the third alleged victim, the Court noted testimony from several witnesses that Spencer had stated his intent to shoot the victim on the day that he sat in his driveway with an assault rifle near the bus stop where the victim stood, and also testimony that Spencer stood in his driveway and stared at the victim while holding the assault rifle. Id. at 573.

The Court determined that, taken as a whole, Spencer’s threats combined with his deliberate action in sitting in view of the bus stop for an extended period of time, and where he knew the victim would be, was evidence of a deliberate intent to present his rifle at the victim in a threatening manner. Id. at 573.

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