STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Charleston County  
Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED  
DEC 29 2014  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ROBERT HARVEY PAYNE,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2013-000376

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

\_\_\_\_\_  
ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

T. PARKIN C. HUNTER  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit  
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
Charleston, SC 29401

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

### ARGUMENT

- A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY FAILING TO DIRECT A VERDICT OF NOT GUILTY ON THE CHARGE OF INDECENT EXPOSURE BECAUSE (1) EVIDENCE EXISTED TO SUBMIT THE CHARGED CRIME TO THE JURY, AND (2) THE DEFENDANT’S NUDITY WAS NOT CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED “EXPRESSIVE SPEECH.”

The trial court properly denied the defense motions for directed verdict because (1) evidence existed to submit the charged crime to the jury; and (2) the Defendant’s actions simply did not rise to the level of constitutionally protected speech.

1. **The Evidence Supports a Conclusion that Defendant’s Actions Met the Statutory Elements of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-130**

As noted above, Defendant was indicted for violation of S. C. Code Ann. § 16-15-130, which provides as follows:

(A)(1) It is unlawful for a person to wilfully, maliciously, and indecently expose his person in a public place, on property of others, or to the view of any person on a street or highway.

Initially, there is direct evidence supporting the charged crime, and the trial court properly submitted this case to a jury. Mr. Stone testified that for ten days leading up to

and including the day of the Defendant's arrest, the Defendant harassed Mr. Stone, his wife, and other residents. Specifically, he testified:

A. This was a ten-day period, and on many occasions, he would have a camera around his neck with a very extended tele lens on it, and I don't know whether he was taking pictures, but he would be pointing it all over the place, including our house.

Q. Anything else you observed him doing?

A. He was giving us the finger constantly, I mean at least every ten minutes, especially when he thought we were looking at him. It was hard not to look at him because we could clearly see him and the boat from every room of our house.

(R. p. 55, ll. 5-15.)

Mr. Stone further testified that on the day the Defendant was arrested, May 29th:

Q. Now, once you returned home, did you see the defendant at all?

A. Yes.

Q. And what was he doing?

A. He was still on the top deck on his chaise lounge and when he saw me, he stood up, took off his swim suit. He just had a swim suit on, stood on the top deck of his boat proffering his genitals, giving me the double finger, like this (indicating).

(R. p. 59, ll. 4-12.)

Defendant confirmed that he exposed himself to Mr. Stone, and that, when he saw Mr. Stone, he willfully gestured at Mr. and Mrs. Stone with an obscene hand gesture.

The Defendant testified:

Well, on the roof of the boat, I pulled my shorts down far enough to manage the process [urination], and then I was facing Mr. Stone's -- one of two houses that I thought was his, and I gave him the bird, in that general direction.

(R. p. 320, ll. 13-17.)

In addition, there is no dispute whatsoever that the Defendant exposed himself in a public place in view of others. As noted above, the Defendant testified that he was on

the roof of his boat in a public place, the Shem Creek Marsh, he lowered his pants, urinated in the direction of Mr. Stone's house, and "gave him [Mr. Stone] the bird."

The evidence and inferences drawn therefrom viewed in a light favorable to the State justified the trial judge's submission of the charge of indecent exposure as set forth in § 16-15-130 to the jury.

2. **Defendant's Actions Do Not Constitute Constitutionally Protected Speech**

Defendant claims his use of the middle finger and other actions are constitutionally protected speech. However, Defendant was not charged and convicted for the use of his gesture with his middle finger, and Defendant's indecent exposure was not protected communication under the United States or the State of South Carolina Constitutions.

The cases cited by Defendant do not support a constitutional defense to Defendant's actions based on either the United States or the South Carolina Constitution. Defendant was not engaging in constitutionally protected communication when he dropped his pants and urinated in the direction of Mr. and Ms. Stone's home from the roof of his boat in the marshes of Shem Creek after drinking beer. Defendant's reliance on a South Carolina cross burning case, State v. Ramsey, 311 S.C. 555, 430 S.E.2d 511 (1993) (Ramsey II) is misplaced. In Ramsey II, a cross was burned in the yard of the Chief of Police for the City of York. As summarized in Ramsey II, the South Carolina Supreme Court initially issued its opinion sustaining the conviction of the cross burners in State v. Ramsey, Op. No. 23760 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed June 13, 1993) (Davis Adv.Sh. No. 15 at 24) (Ramsey I) (vacated on rehearing May 3, 1993). Subsequent to the issuance

of Ramsey I, the United States Supreme Court decided R.A.V. v. City of St. Paul, 505 U.S. 377, 112 S.Ct. 2538 (1992). In R.A.V., the United States Supreme Court protected a cross burner who burned a cross in the yard of a black family. The South Carolina Supreme Court reconsidered Ramsey I and vacated the conviction in light of R.A.V. In Ramsey II, the South Carolina Supreme Court characterized the R.A.V. decision as “the United State Supreme Court struck down a Minnesota statute outlawing the placement of bias-motivated symbols on public or private property on the grounds that the Minnesota statute impermissibly restricted the right to freedom of speech guaranteed by the First Amendment” 311 S.C. at 558, 430 S.E.2d at 514. Furthermore, “The government may not selectively limit speech that communicates, as does a burning cross, messages of racial or religious intolerance.” Ramsey II, 311 S.C. at 559, 430 S.E.2d at 514. “A statute directed at conduct rather than speech may stand; and a statute reaching a proscribable class of speech, such as threats of violence, does not infringe on First Amendment rights.” Id., 311 S.C. at 560, 430 S.E.2d at 514, referencing R.A.V., 505 U.S. at 389, 112 S.Ct. at 2546. The Supreme Court further explained:

We have long held, for example, that nonverbal expressive activity can be banned because of the action it entails, but not because of the ideas it expresses - so that burning a flag in violation of an ordinance against outdoor fires could be punishable, where burning a flag in violation of an ordinance against dishonoring the flag is not.

R.A.V., 505 U.S. at 385, 112 S.Ct. at 2544.

Defendant’s actions do not rise to the level of burning a cross on the yard of a black police chief. Defendant’s actions were not protected communication. Consistent with R.A.V. and Ramsey II, it was the behavior of Defendant that was proscribed and punished, not a purported message. The United States Supreme Court “has held that

when ‘speech’ and ‘nonspeech’ elements are combined in the same course of conduct, a sufficiently important governmental interest in regulating the nonspeech element can justify incidental limitations on First Amendment freedoms.” United States v. O’Brien, 391 U.S. 367, 376, 88 S.Ct. 1673, 1678-1679 (1968). In O’Brien, the speech element associated with draft card burning was not sufficient to prevent a conviction of mutilating and then not possessing the draft card as required by the applicable statute.

Defendant relies on Diamonds v. Greenville County, 325 S.C. 154, 480 S.E.2d 718 (1997) (county ordinance banning public nudity stricken) and Texas v. Johnson, 491 U.S. 397, 109 S.Ct. 2533 (1989) for the general proposition that “[t]herefore, a display of nudity done as symbolic speech, is protected from punishment by enforcement of the Indecent Exposure statute.” Appellant Brief at 9. Johnson is a flag burning case. The defendant burned a United States flag at the 1984 Republican National Convention and was exonerated. It would seem axiomatic that this is First Amendment protected speech at a political event. The case at hand is about proffering genitals and urinating from a boat in a marsh allegedly towards a private citizen after drinking beer. In Johnson, the Court recites a litany of examples where behavior has been given First Amendment protection. These include (1) displaying black armbands to protest the Vietnam War, (2) participating in sit-ins, (3) wearing military uniforms in a dramatic presentation criticizing involvement in the Vietnam War, and (4) picketing for various causes. See Johnson, 491 U.S., at 404, 109 S.Ct., at 2539. Of particular note, the Johnson Court stated:

In deciding whether particular conduct possesses sufficient communicative elements to bring the First Amendment into play, we have asked whether ‘[a]n intent to convey a particularized message was present, and [whether] the

likelihood was great that the message would be understood by those who viewed it.’

Johnson, 491 U.S. at 404, 109 S.Ct. at 2539, *citing* Spence v. Washington, 418 U.S. at 410 – 411, 94 S.Ct. at 2730.

These cases show that some forms of communication or speech do not have unlimited protection when there are sufficient interests of government not related to restriction of speech.

These cases show that communication mixed with unacceptable behavior is not protected. The record shows that the jury could reasonably have found that no “intent to convey a particularized message was present” and also the likelihood was not “great that the message would be understood by those who viewed it.” The following is some of Defendant’s testimony on cross examination (1) “I did not know Mr. Stone was home,” (2) “Never saw the man, and I didn’t know which home his home was,” and (3) in response to a question that “you wouldn’t know where to direct your gesture would you?” Defendant responded “From 200 yards it didn’t matter.” R. p. 349, l. 20; R. p. 349, ll. 20-21; R. p. 349, l. 25 – p. 350, l. 2.

Defendant also testified with regard to Defendant’s purpose: “He [Stone] caused me a lot of discomfort. I was just trying to cause him a lot discomfort.” Defendant also testified that he wished his gesture on top of the boat to be seen as a sign of political contempt. However, the testimony elicits the facts that the message, if it were a message, was not directed to anyone who worked for the State of South Carolina or its subdivisions, the Town of Mount Pleasant, and that he did not protest to the Mount Pleasant police chief. At best, he testified that the purported message was directed to Mr.

and Ms. Stone as living in Mount Pleasant and Bayview. R. p. 355, l. 25 – p. 356 l. 1; R. p. 350, ll. 21-24; R. p. 350, l. 21 – p. 352, l. 13.

Indecency statutes are constitutional and do not proscribe all communication. Even if flipping the middle finger and proffering genitals while urinating is a message, the behavior and not the message is what is regulated by the South Carolina statute. The trial court's denial of the motion for directed verdict was proper.

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY FAILING TO DIRECT A VERDICT OF NOT GUILTY ON THE CHARGE OF POINTING OR PRESENTING A FIREARM WHERE TWO DIFFERENT VICTIMS TESTIFIED THAT DEFENDANT POINTED A SHOTGUN AT THEM AND DEFENDANT FIRED IT.

As noted above, Defendant was also indicted for violation of S. C. Code Ann. § 16-23-410, which provides as follows:

**It is unlawful for a person to present or point at another person a loaded or unloaded firearm.**

The trial court properly denied the defense motion for directed verdict on the charge of presenting or pointing a firearm because evidence existed to submit this charged crime to the jury. Two witnesses testified that the gun was pointed at them and fired. One witness, Mr. Scott Anderson testified:

So there is the island. There are a couple of openings in there. I see him [Defendant] come out of the island, which is unusual, because he's not got a shirt on, and I hadn't seen - - you don't usually see people on that side, and I usually recognize them, so I picked up the scope and got a quick look at him, and saw that it was Robert Payne and I didn't think anything of it.

Came back out, and he picked up - - I realized he had - - he came back out, he aimed a shotgun directly at us [Mr. Anderson and his two-and-a-half year old son Noah], and fired the gun. And -- sorry. So a split second I - -

THE COURT: Take your time.

THE WITNESS: So -- I couldn't believe it. I was -- I mean, holy cow. I quickly picked up the scope, as I couldn't believe it, and went like this and saw that it was a pistol grip shotgun and -- black shotgun. I grabbed my son. I didn't have the phone on me, so I tried to get Noah to come with me, grab him without making him scream, and we went inside to get the phone and I called 911, and -- to get them to come out, and went back out.

(R. p. 169, l. 8 – p. 170, l. 3.)

In addition, Mr. Stone testified:

A. Yeah. He [Defendant] came out of the woods on the island with the thing in his hand like this, and then he saw me on the deck, and he went like this (indicating.)

Q. And that's how he was holding it?

A. Yeah, fired.

(R. p. 67, ll. 2 – 25.)

Q. And just to clarify, you're 100 percent sure to your perception this defendant pointed and fired a gun at you in your direction?

A. 100 percent sure.

Q. Did you believe at the time he could shoot you?

A. Yes.

(R. p. 74, ll. 2-7.)

Defendant asserts State v. Cabrera-Pena, 361 S.C. 372, 605 S.E.2d 522 (2004), and State v. Reese, 370 S.C. 31, 633 S.E.2d 898 (2006) (*overruled on other grounds*, State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009)) imply “that a defendant must ‘present’ a firearm in close enough proximity to a victim such that it constitutes a threat.” Appellant Brief at 12. However, a review of these cases shows that the presentment in these cases was in close proximity and the cases appear to be handgun cases. In Cabrera-Pena, the court specifically references a handgun. Id., 361 S.C. at 381, 605 S.E.2d at 526. Though the Reese opinion only refers to a gun, it appears to have been a handgun from

the facts. The opinion states that “According to Reese, he was upset and crying while talking to Teresa. He pulled the gun out and told Teresa he was going to kill himself.” Reese, 370 S.C. at 35, 633 S.E.2d at 900 and “there is no doubt Reese was presenting a firearm when he took the gun out and began waving it around.” Id., 370 S.C. at 36, 633 S.E.2d at 901. These cases do not make holdings about any distance requirements related to presenting a firearm. These are cases where the presentment was factually close. Defendant also asserts that: “Completely missing from the State’s case was any evidence that Defendant intended to point or present a firearm at Stone or Anderson.” Appellant Brief at 13. Defendant cites In re: Spencer R., 387 S.C. 517, 692 S.E.2d 569 (Ct. App. 2010) for the proposition that the State “must offer direct or circumstantial evidence that a person specifically intended to present a firearm at someone before a conviction may be sustained under Section 16-23-410.” Appellant Brief at 14.

In Spencer R. ( standing in front of his house threatening people at a school bus stop with an assault rifle), this Court sustained Spencer R.’s conviction for pointing or presenting a firearm and stated:

Taken as a whole, Spencer R.’s actions as to Angela B. were not that of an ordinary citizen engaged in the lawful use of a firearm on his property. Instead, the evidence demonstrates Spencer R. deliberately intended to show his rifle at Angela B. in a threatening manner. Even though Spencer R. did not waive or point the assault rifle directly at Angela B., his decision to sit in view of the school bus stop for an extended period of time while displaying his assault rifle, combined with the events occurring that day and Rodney T.’s and Brett C.’s testimony that Spencer R. said he wanted to shoot Angela B., constitute sufficient evidence to uphold Spencer R.’s conviction.

Id., 387 S.C. at 524, 692 S.E.2d at 573.

In this case sub judice, Defendant's activities were not those of an ordinary citizen engaged in the lawful use of a firearm on his property. As to the second shot, he was not even on his property. Two witnesses perceived that Defendant was aiming his shotgun at them. Spencer R. was convicted even though he "did not waive or point the assault rifle directly at Angela B." Id. The court in Spencer R. recognized that a trial court should examine the overall circumstances "combined with the events occurring during the day." Id. In this case, Defendant testified that he shot the second shot "to annoy Stone. He had been on my case for two years. I hadn't done anything." R. p. 334, ll. 11-12.

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